
Page 1 

 

 

 

AGENDA  
Meeting: Cabinet 

Place: Kennet Room - County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, BA14 8JN 

Date: Tuesday 12 March 2024 

Time: 10.00 am 

 

 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Stuart Figini of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Trowbridge, email committee@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines 01225 713114/713115. 
 
All public reports referred to on this agenda are available on the Council’s website at 
www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 
 
Membership: 
 
Cllr Richard Clewer Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 

Economic Development, Military-Civilian 
Integration, Heritage, Arts, Tourism, Health 
and Wellbeing 

Cllr Laura Mayes Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Children's Services, Education, and Skills 

Cllr Phil Alford Cabinet Member for Housing, Strategic Assets 
and Asset Transfer 

Cllr Ian Blair-Pilling Cabinet Member for Public Health, Leisure, 
Libraries, Facilities Management, and 
Operational Assets 

Cllr Nick Botterill Cabinet Member for Finance, Development 
Management and Strategic Planning 

Cllr Jane Davies Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care, SEND 
and Inclusion 

Cllr Nick Holder Cabinet Member for Environment and Climate 
Change 

Cllr Ashley O'Neill Cabinet Member for Governance, IT, 
Broadband, Digital, Licensing, Staffing, 
Communities, and Area Boards 

Cllr Caroline Thomas Cabinet Member for Transport, Street Scene, 
and Flooding 

 



Page 2 

 

 
Recording and Broadcasting Information 

 

Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast. At the 
start of the meeting, the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
recorded. The images and sound recordings may also be used for training purposes 
within the Council.  
 
By submitting a statement or question for a meeting you are consenting that you may be 
recorded presenting this and that in any case your name will be made available on the 
public record. The meeting may also be recorded by the press or members of the public.  
 
Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the 
Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability 
resulting from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings 
they accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in 
relation to any such claims or liabilities.  
 
Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is 
available on request. Our privacy policy can be found here.  

 
Parking 

 
To find car parks by area follow this link. The three Wiltshire Council Hubs where most 
meetings will be held are as follows: 
 
County Hall, Trowbridge 
Bourne Hill, Salisbury 
Monkton Park, Chippenham 
 
County Hall and Monkton Park have some limited visitor parking. Please note for 
meetings at County Hall you will need to log your car’s registration details upon your 
arrival in reception using the tablet provided. If you may be attending a meeting for more 
than 2 hours, please provide your registration details to the Democratic Services Officer, 
who will arrange for your stay to be extended. 
 

Public Participation 
 

Please see the agenda list on following pages for details of deadlines for submission of 
questions and statements for this meeting. 
 
For extended details on meeting procedure, submission and scope of questions and 
other matters, please consult Part 4 of the council’s constitution. 
 
The full constitution can be found at this link.  
 
Our privacy policy is found here. 
 
For assistance on these and other matters please contact the officer named above for 
details 
 

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2FecCatDisplay.aspx%3Fsch%3Ddoc%26cat%3D14031&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634060435%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=tgq%2B75eqKuPDwzwOo%2BRqU%2FLEEQ0ORz31mA2irGc07Mw%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Fparking-car-parks&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634060435%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=FK5U7igUosMzWIp1%2BhQp%2F2Z7Wx%2BDt9qgP62wwLMlqFE%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Fecsddisplayclassic.aspx%3Fname%3Dpart4rulesofprocedurecouncil%26id%3D630%26rpid%3D24804339%26path%3D13386&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634070387%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=dYUgbzCKyoh6zLt%2BWs%2F%2B6%2BZcyNNeW%2BN%2BagqSpoOeFaY%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Feccatdisplayclassic.aspx%3Fsch%3Ddoc%26cat%3D13386%26path%3D0&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634070387%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=VAosAsVP2frvb%2FDFxP34NHzWIUH60iC2lObaISYA3Pk%3D&reserved=0
https://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/democracy-privacy-policy


Page 3 

 

 Part I 

 Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public 
 

Key Decisions 
 
Matters defined as 'Key' Decisions and included in the Council’s Forward Work Plan 

are marked with the following symbol on the agenda  
 

1   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies for absence. 
 
 

2   Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee or Monitoring Officer. 
 
 

3   Leader's Announcements  

 To receive any announcements from the Leader of the Council. 
 
 

4   Public Participation  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public.  
 
This meeting is open to the public, who may ask a question or make a statement. 
Questions may also be asked by Members of the Council.   
 
Questions must be submitted to committee@wiltshire.gov.uk by 12.00 noon on 6 
March 2024. 
 
As this is an extraordinary meeting questions and statements must relate to the 
business on the agenda. 
 
Written notice of a wish to make a statement should also be provided wherever 
possible. 
 
 

5   Urgent Items  

 Any other items which the Leader agrees to consider as a matter of urgency. 
 
 

mailto:committee@wiltshire.gov.uk


Page 4 

 

6   Update on Safety Valve Deal with the Department for Education (Pages 5 - 
14) 

  
To receive a report from the Corporate Director, People. 
 

7   Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 This is to give further notice in accordance with paragraph 5 (4) and 5 (5) of the 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012 of the intention to take the following 
item in private. 
 
To consider passing the following resolution: 

 
To agree that in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 to exclude the public from the meeting for the business specified 
in Item Number 8 because it is likely that if members of the public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as 
defined in  paragraph 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A to the Act and the public 
interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information to the public. 
 
Reason for taking item in private: 

Paragraph 3 - information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information). 

 

 Part II 

 Items during consideration of which it is recommended that the public 
should be excluded because of the likelihood that exempt 

information would be disclosed 

8   Update on Safety Valve Deal with the Department for Education (To follow)  

  
To receive a Part II report from the Corporate Director, People. 

 



 
Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
12 March 2024 
 

Subject:   Update on Safety Valve Deal with the Department for 
Education 

  
Cabinet Member:  Councillor Richard Clewer 
  Leader of the Council 
  Councillor Laura Mayes 

Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Children's Services, Education, and Skills 

  Councillor Jane Davies 
  Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care, SEND and Inclusion 
  Councillor Nick Botterill 

Cabinet Member for Finance, Development Management and 
Strategic Planning 

  
Key Decision:  Key 
 

 

Executive Summary 
 
Safety Valve is a Department for Education (DfE) programme that supports 
Councils which have a very high deficit in the High Need Block (HNB) of the 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).  
 
The HNB is the part of the DSG that primarily supports pupils who have Special 
Educational Needs or Disabilities (SEND), and approximately two thirds of 
councils in England have some level of deficit in their HNB. In Wiltshire this 
cumulative deficit has grown from £2.1m in 2018/19 to £35.2m in 2022/23 and it 
is forecast to continue growing. The Q3 Budget Monitoring paper that was 
presented to Cabinet forecast a total cumulative deficit of £56.247m by the end 
of this financial year. 
 
This deficit has been held in a negative reserve on the council’s balance sheet 
while a statutory override is in place to shield the overall financial position of the 
council from this deficit. However, the statutory override is due to end in 2026. 
 
A Safety Valve Deal is a formal agreement between a local authority and the 
DfE which offers councils additional funds to help with their historic deficits and 
in return the council agrees to deliver a plan to return their DSG to a balanced 
position over the period of the deal. 
 
Cabinet agreed to submit a draft version of the plan to government in December 
2023 and, following comment and challenge from the DfE, the plan was 
amended and resubmitted on 12 January 2024. This plan was submitted with 
endorsement from Wiltshire Schools Forum, Children’s Select Committee and a 
representational board including members from B&NES Swindon and Wiltshire 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



(BSW) Integrated Care Board (ICB) and Wiltshire Parent Carer Council 
(WPCC). 
 
Further discussion has taken place between the DfE and Wiltshire Council to 
arrive at a negotiated position which could be presented to Ministers for their 
approval. 
 
The outcome of those conversations and the status of all Safety Valve deals are 
currently embargoed until published by the Department for Education, therefore 
the detail around this will be discussed in the confidential part of the Cabinet 
meeting on the 12 March 2024. Wiltshire Council is committed to transparency 
around this work and so the detail will be made public as soon as possible. 
 
A disapplication request has been approved by the Secretary of State for a 
block transfer above 0.5% from the Schools Block to the High Needs Block. This 
is for 0.55% this year and was submitted with support from Schools Forum. 
 
The capital request to support this plan was submitted on 5th January 2024. This 
bid is for £5.7m to expand special schools places in the south of the county but 
this decision has not been made by ministers yet. This remains the biggest risk 
to delivery of the sustainability plan. 
 

 

Proposals 
 
That Cabinet: 
 
Note the need to take this decision in a Part 2 confidential session due to the 
key information having been embargoed by the Department for Education. 
 

 

Reason for Proposal 
 
The High Needs Block deficit remains the largest financial risk to the council and 
the Safety Valve programme forms a key part of the financial context for the 
council. Cabinet will continue to be kept appraised of progress and public 
reporting is critical to ensure transparency of the programme and the council’s 
approach to it. 

 

Page 6



Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
12 March 2024 
 

Subject:   Update on Safety Valve Deal with the Department for 
Education 

  
Cabinet Member:  Councillor Richard Clewer 
  Leader of the Council 
  Councillor Laura Mayes 

Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Children's Services, Education, and Skills 

  Councillor Jane Davies 
  Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care, SEND and Inclusion 
  Councillor Nick Botterill 

Cabinet Member for Finance, Development Management and 
Strategic Planning 

  
Key Decision:  Key 
 

 
Purpose of Report 
 

1. To update Cabinet on progress to reach a Safety Valve Deal between Wiltshire 
Council and the Department for Education, and to set out the implications of that on 
the financial position of the council. 
 
Relevance to the council’s Business Plan 
 

2. The High Needs Block must be brought back into a balanced position. This is a 
significant financial risk and so removing it will support the delivery of the council’s 
priorities as set out in the Business Plan. 
 

3. The delivery of the High Needs Block Sustainability plan, which was submitted to 
support the development of a Safety Valve Deal, will also provide better outcomes for 
children with SEND in Wiltshire, supporting the following Business Plan priorities: 

a) Resilient Communities 
b) Empowered People 
c) Thriving Economy 

 
Background 
 

4. The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is funding which local authorities in England 
receive to support schools. The DSG is split into four blocks which support different 
parts of the schools system. 
 

5. One of these blocks is the High Needs Block which is used to support children and 
young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND). 

 

6. Since 2018/19 the High Needs Block has been under increasing pressure. This growth 
in expenditure has been seen in every council in England, and Wiltshire is no 
exception. 

Page 7



 
7. This growth is the result of changing practice following The Children and Families Act 

2014, SEND Regulations 2014 and the SEND Code of Practice 2015 which introduced 
new statutory obligations for local authorities in England in how they support children 
and young people with SEND. 
 

8. In Wiltshire from 2018/19 to 2022/23, this equated to a 51% growth in the number of 
children supported by an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP), and a 46% growth 
in the amount of money being spent from the High Needs Block. Over the same 
period, the money received into the High Needs Block from government only grew by 
36%.  The Association of Directors of Children’s Services estimate that, as of 2022, 
this was a £2.6bn issue across England. 

 

9. While High Needs Block income has not kept pace with the growth in demand, there 
are also changes that councils can make to respond to the new strategic context.  

 

10. This issue has received some attention over recent years, and this is reflected in the 
introduction by government of a statutory override. This override allows councils to 
hold their DSG deficit as a negative reserve on their balance sheet, walled off from the 
rest of the council’s finances. This statutory override, however, is due to expire 31st 
March 2026 and at that point, councils will be expected to make good any remaining 
deficit that has not been previously addressed. 

 

11. The Wiltshire Council DSG deficit forecast suggests that, by April 2026, the cumulative 
unmitigated deficit could be £117m while the current forecast total general fund and 
earmarked reserves are £90m. 

 

12. The invitation from DfE to join the Safety Valve was received in August 2023 and an 
initial meeting with the Department for Education was held in early October 2023. The 
plan was submitted in draft form on December 15th, it was then amended and 
resubmitted on January 12th 2024. 
 

13. Further negotiations were held between the council and the DfE to ensure a mutually 
agreeable deal. These negotiations were based on the High Needs Block 
Sustainability Plan for Wiltshire, which was approved by Cabinet for submission in 
December 2023 with the endorsement of Wiltshire Schools Forum, Children’s Select 
Committee, and a cross-sector board including members from B&NES Swindon and 
Wiltshire (BSW) Integrated Care Board (ICB) and Wiltshire Parent Carer Council 
(WPCC). 

 

14. The outcomes from those negotiations and the status of all Safety Valve Deals are 
currently embargoed. It is expected that the embargo will be lifted before the 19th 
March and the council will make the detail public as soon as possible. 
 

15. The plan focuses on activity required for financial recovery, but just as importantly on 
the quality of provision for our learners with SEND and on getting the right support to 
those children and young people. 
 
Main Considerations for the council 

 

16. The trajectory set out in the plan is very ambitious and will require a One Council 
commitment to delivery, alongside support from elected members, schools and parent 
carers. The delivery phase of this plan will continue to have a focus on co-design and 
engagement to bring the whole SEND system on this process as well. 

Page 8



 

17. The budget that council agreed contained investment in preventative programmes that 
will deliver this financial recovery. The expectation is that this upfront investment will 
deliver significant savings in year 3-5, but the council should be aware that further 
investment may be required to deliver the plan. 

 

18. The cumulative deficit that Wiltshire Council is holding in the Dedicated Schools Grant 
negative reserve is the biggest financial risk that the council has and without a Safety 
Valve Deal it could prove to be impossible to solve. 
  

19. As reported in January, at the end of the plan period, the cumulative mitigated deficit is 
forecast to be £137.2m. It is expected that the council will need to cover £70-90m from 
other funding sources to completely remove the deficit. 

 

20. The budget also established a High Needs Block reserve to begin addressing that 
residual deficit and further contribution will be required. 
 
Safeguarding Implications 
 

21. The Safety Valve Plan does not, in and of itself, have any safeguarding implications. It 
is expected that, if it is fully implemented, it should reduce the risk to children and 
young people. 
 

22. However, nationally, children with disabilities are 3.7 times more likely to suffer abuse, 
and so during the implementation phase of this plan, careful consideration will be 
given to unintended consequences that could lead to an increased safeguarding risk. 
 
Public Health Implications 
 

23. The decision to submit a draft Safety Valve Plan, and open discussions with the DfE 
about a Safety Valve Deal, does not on its own have public health implications. 
 

24. If the Safety Valve Deal reaches the implementation phase then each individual 
intervention will need to be understood in terms of the public health implications. 
SEND is a factor that impacts public health, and the Programme Team will continue to 
work closely with the Public Health team. 

 

Procurement Implications 
 

25. The decision to submit a draft plan and enter into discussions around a Safety Valve 
Deal does not have procurement implications. 
 

26. If the Safety Valve Plan becomes a deal then each proposal would need to be 
reviewed by an appropriate Procurement Officer. 
 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal  
 

27. The Safety Valve Plan does not, in and of itself, impact people with protected 
characteristics. The potential outcome at this stage is a financial agreement between 
Wiltshire Council and the DfE.  
 

28. However, if the Safety Valve plan becomes an agreement, and that includes changes 
to services, those proposals would be subject to an Equalities Impact Assessment.  

Page 9



 
Environmental and Climate Change Considerations  
 

29. This decision does not directly have any environmental or climate change impacts that 
need to be considered. However, if this plan becomes a Safety Valve Deal then the 
interventions will need to be understood in the context of the environment and climate 
change. 
 

30. As an example, should the plan be implemented then fewer children will need to be 
placed out of county and this will result in a reduced carbon footprint for travel.  

 

31. Any environmental or climate change impacts that have already been identified are in 
the main body of the Safety Valve plan (Appendix 1). 
 
Workforce Implications 
 

32. This decision will not directly have workforce implications, however if the plan is taken 
forward and a Safety Valve Deal is signed, then each mitigation will need the 
workforce implications to be set out. 
 

33. Anticipated impacts on workforce can be found in the main body of the Safety Valve 
Plan (Appendix 1) 
 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision and related work is not taken 
 

34.  If the decision is not taken then the financial risk of the DSG deficit remains on the 
balance sheet of the council. There is a risk that, if the statutory override ends as 
anticipated in April 2026, the entire deficit becomes the councils to manage. The deficit 
is forecast to be £113.5m by that point. It is not thought that the council could 
effectively manage this risk without the support of a Safety Valve Deal. 
 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is taken and actions that will be 
taken to manage these risks 
 

35. If the decision is taken to enter into a Safety Valve Deal, the council will be responsible 
for delivering that deal. There is a risk that if the council falls behind on the deal that 
further work will have to be undertaken to bring the plan back in line, this may include 
further investments to ensure delivery. To mitigate this risk, there is a robust process 
of monitoring in place, with clear measures regularly reported on. 
 

36. There is a risk that the council will see an increase in legal challenge and tribunals 
arising from the SEND decision making process. This risk is being mitigated through 
the plan, by ensuring the council is confident in the support being provided to children 
with SEND, by ensuring that the council has efficient and well-defined processes in 
place. Additionally, the plan is being co-designed with parent carers, schools, early 
years settings and colleges to create shared ownership and buy-in. 
 
Financial Implications 
 

37. The proposed plan has been updated to reflect the DSG funding settlement 
announced in December, the current DSG forecast for 2023/24 and the changes 
required to reflect the children and young people currently awaiting assessment. 

 

Page 10



38. The updated plan includes mitigations of £83m to be delivered over 5 years across the 
5 workstreams. This is the net impact after the required investment to deliver 
increases in support and early intervention, and to cover the revenue costs of 
additional specialist places across Wiltshire schools. 

 
39. The plan includes capital investment in the delivery of new special school and 

resource bases across Wiltshire.  This includes current plans funded by High Needs 
Places Capital Allocation (HNPCA) grant and council contributions and incorporates 
funding already agreed by the DfE to support the development of a new 130 place 
special free school for pupils with social, emotional and mental health needs.  

  
40. The plan also includes an assumption that the council’s application for a free school to 

deliver Alternative Provision will be successful.  A decision from the DfE has not yet 
been announced, despite the application being submitted in early 2023. 

  
41. In order to deliver the required place sufficiency across the period of the plan a bid to 

the additional HNPCA grant made available to councils on the Safety Valve 
programme has been made for £5.7m in order to accelerate the delivery of additional 
special school capacity. 

 

42. The profile of the mitigated deficit is summarised as follows: 
 

 
 
43. The decision to enter the Safety Valve deal will crystalise the requirement of a 

contribution from the council’s resources which will in effect be the balance of the 
cumulative deficit set out in the plan less any contribution from the DfE.   
 

44. The council will be taking an approach of maximising all opportunities to set money 
aside in a specific earmarked reserve to fund the contribution required.  If sufficient 
funds are not set aside by the end of the plan period (April 2029) then the council will 
need to capitalise the residual balance. 

 
Legal Implications 
 

45. The submission of the plan to the DfE does not, in and of itself, have legal 
implications. However, should the plan become a Safety Valve deal then the council 
will enter into a formal written agreement with the DfE. 

Provision Type 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Plan Year 1 2 3 4 5

Mainstream Provision 22,875 24,019 25,254 20,379 16,112 11,896

Resourced Provision 4,249 5,353 6,295 6,390 6,169 6,325

Special Schools 27,026 32,364 34,952 37,110 38,325 40,229

Independent and Non-maintained Special School 

Provision 20,207 19,705 19,024 15,110 6,100 4,143

Post 16 Provision 10,881 11,491 11,958 12,107 12,044 12,506

Alternative Provision 10,198 9,464 8,912 8,808 8,623 9,708

Therapies 560 560 773 782 792 801

Other High Needs Block expenditure 1,103 786 810 834 859 885

Total Expenditure 97,098 103,744 107,977 101,520 89,024 86,494

High Needs Block -70,798 -73,465 -75,669 -77,939 -80,277 -82,685

Block Transfers -1,797 -2,000 -3,754 -3,867 -3,983 -4,102

In Year Surplus (-)/Deficit(+) 24,504 28,280 28,555 19,715 4,765 -293

Surplus/Deficit from other DSG Blocks -3,470 0

Surplus/Deficit Brought Forward from Previous 

years 35,214 56,247 84,527 113,081 132,796 137,561

Total Deficit Balance 56,247 84,527 113,081 132,796 137,561 137,267

Page 11



 
46. Safety Valve Deals are largely standardised documents that set out, at a high-level, 

the commitment that the council has to reaching a balanced DSG position, and the 
commitment that the DfE has to provide additional DSG to support deficit reduction. 

 

47. This deal will need to be reviewed by Legal Services to ensure that the legal 
implications are sufficiently considered before the deal is signed. 
 
Options Considered 
 

48. Decline the offer to develop a Safety Valve agreement – this was rejected because the 
lack of up-front investment from the Department for Education would significantly 
compromise the ability of the council to deliver the change required. This delay would 
increase the cumulative deficit still further, which would increase the impact on the 
Council's general funds. 
 

49. Attempt to negotiate a slower reduction in the overspend – this was rejected for two 
reasons, firstly it is understood that the DfE is unlikely to accept any deal longer than 
the 5 years that we are proposing. Secondly, the delay in managing the overspend 
would result in an increase in the deficit which the local authority would be responsible 
for. Covering this overspend would require further cuts to services that all residents, 
including children and young people with SEND, rely on. 

 

Conclusions 
 

50. If the council is to continue to deliver on its statutory duty to children and young people 
with SEND then we must make changes to the way the SEND system in Wiltshire 
operates. 
 

51. These changes would need to be made anyway to stop the growing deficit, improve 
outcomes for children and young people, and to reflect the changing strategic context 
in which the system finds itself. Despite the challenges in delivering this plan, and the 
increased financial impact of the forecast deficit, this still represents a good way to 
manage the risk. 

 

52. As reported in January, if a deal can be negotiated between Wiltshire Council and the 
DfE, Safety Valve offers an opportunity to undertake those changes, leveraging 
additional investment from the Department for Education that will allow such changes 
to be made more quickly than would otherwise be possible, and to significantly reduce 
our historic deficit. 

 

53. Further updates will come to future Cabinet meetings as officers pull together 
implementation plans and Children’s Select Committee have requested this be a 
standing item on their future agendas. 
 
Lucy Townsend, Corporate Director for People 

Report Author:  Ben Stevens, Inclusion, SEND and AP Transformation Lead, 
Ben.Stevens@wiltshire.gov.uk, 01225 713788 
 Liz Williams, Finance Lead – High Needs Block Sustainability, 
Liz.Williams@wiltshire.gov.uk, 01225 712521 

 
4 March 2024 
 

Page 12



Appendices  
 
None 
 
Background Papers 
 
None 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Update on Safety Valve Deal with the Department for Education

